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Ladies and Gentlemen:

On behalf of MCG Capital Corporation (the “Company”), enclosed herewith for filing,
pursuant to Section 33 of the Investment Company Act of 1940, is a copy of the consolidated
amended class action complaint filed in In re: MCG Capital Corporation Securities Litigation
(Case No. 1: 03 CV 0114A, filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of
Virginia), a civil action involving the Company and certain officers of the Company that has
been delivered to the Company.

If you have any questions regarding this submission, please do not hesitate to call
Cynthia Krus at (202) 383-0218 or me at (202) 383-0176.
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cc: Samuel G. Rubenstein, Esq./MCG Capital Corporation
Cynthia M. Krus, Esq./SAB
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT Coan s an |
FASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA i ,l
. Iy . i
IN RE: MCG CAPITAL CORPORATION o CIVHLACTION NO: 1:03ev0l H4-A |

SECURITIES LITIGATION
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

CONSOLIDATED AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs, by and through their undersigned attorneys, allege the following based upon
personal knowledge as to themselves and thewr own acts. and information and behel as to all other
matters, based upon, inter alic. the investigation conducted by and through their attorneys, which

included. among other things, a review of the public documents and announcements made by the

defendants, United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings, analyst reports and .

press releases regarding MCG Capital Corporation, ("MCG Capital” or the “Company™).

NATURE OF THE ACTION

l. This is a securities class action brought by Plaintiffs on behalf 0fthemselvés and a
Class consisting of all persouis who purchased MCG Capital common stock during the period from
November 28, 2001 through and including November 1, 2002 (the “Class Period™), to recover
damages caused by the defendants’ violations of the federal securities laws, including those

purchasers who obtained their shares pursuant or traceable to the Company’s initial public offering

of its common stock on November 28, 2001 (the “[PO” or “Offering”). During the Class Period, the

defendants issued and/or failed to correct materially false and misleading statements to the public
inthe Company’s SEC filings and press releases concerning the credentials, credibility, and integrity

of the Company’s founder, Chairman, and Chief Executive Officer, Bryan Mitchell (“Mitchell”),



thereby artificially inflating the market price of MCG Capital stock and causing Plaintitts and the
Class 1o suffer substantial damages in connection with their purchase and ownership of MCG Capital

stock pursuant or traceable to Oltering.

2. This class action alleges that the Registration Statement and Prospectus dated
November 28, 2001 for the issuance and initial public offering ot 13.375.000 shares of MCG Capital
common stock -- as well as suhscqu&nl public statements made by the Company -- contained
material misrepresentations and/or omissions with respect to the credentials, credibility, and integrity
of the Company’s Chairman and CEQ. Mitchell. Unless otherwise indicated, the Registration

Statement and Prospectus are referred to herein collectively as the “Prospectus.”

3. The materiality of the misrcpresentations and/or omissions with respect to the
credentials, credibility, and integrity of the Company’s management for the investing public is self-
evident in light of, inter al{a: (a) the vital importance to the investing public and the securities
markets in general of the integrity of a public company’s officers and directors; and (b) the
Company’s consistent statements to the public concerning the very same. Indeed, as is more
particularly described below, the Company expressly informed the pu‘blic in the Prospectus that --
for MCG Capital -- the ability of the Company’s current management team, consisting of Mitchell
and others, to continue with the Company was of critical import for both continued financing of the

Company and the Company’s ability to continuc operations in general. See Y 32-34, infra. The

misrepresentations and/or omissions by the defendants concerning the credibility and integrity of

the Company’s Chairman and CEO -- in the Prospectus, in other SEC filings, and in various press

releases disseminated to the public -- resulted in violations of the federal securities laws.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to § 27 of’
the Seeurities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “xchange Act™) (15 U.S.C. § 78aa). and Scction 22 of the
Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) (13 U.S.C. §77v), and 28 U.S.C. § 1331, The claims
asserted herein arise undér Sections 11 and 13 of the Securitics Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77k and 770.
Sections 10(b) and 20(2) of the Exchange Act. 15 U.S.C. §§ 781(b) and 78t{a), and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder by the SEC, including Rule 10b-3, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-3.

3. Venue is proper in this District pursuant (o Section 22 of the Securities Act and

Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 28 U.S.C. §§1391(b) and (¢). Many of the acts and transactions

aiving rise to the violations of law complained of herein, including the preparation and dissemination
to the investing public of false and misleading information, occurred in this District. In addition,
defendants conduct business in this District, and the Company’s headquarters are located in this
District.

0. Inconnection with the acts and conduct alleged in this complaint, detfendants, directly
or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including the United
States mails, telephone communications systems, and facilities of the national securities markets.

PLAINTIFES

7. William B. Mouk, Evel){n Rosen, and Charles Greenhouse, appointed by the Court
by Order dated May 2, 2003 to serve as Lead Plaintiffs in this class action, purchased MCG Capital
common stock during the Class Period, and were damaged as a result of the wrongful acts of the

defendants alleged herein. Their purchases are set forth in their motion seeking appointment as lead
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piuinlil‘fs previously filed with the Court.

8. In addition to the court- appointed Fead PlaintdTs, Plaintift Joseph G. Danicle also
purchased shares pursuant or traceable to MCG Capital’s Prospectus elfective November 28, 2001,
and was damaged thereby. Plaintiff Daniele’s certification is attached as Exhibit “A™ hereto.

DEFENDANTS

9. PDefendant MCG Capital purports 1o be a solutions-focused  financial services
company headquartered at 1100 Wilson Boulevard, Suite 800, Arlington, VA 22209, that provides
financing and advisory services for companies throughout the United States in the communications.
information services, media and technology industry sectors. During the Class Period. MCG
Capital’s common stock was actively traded in an efficient market under the ticker symbol MCGC.

10. Defendant Mitchell was, at all relevant times, Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of MCG Capital. On November 3, 2002, Mitchell resigned as the Company’s
Chairman, but was retained by the Board of Directors as Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Mitchell signed the Regiétration Statement for MCG Capital’s IPO.

| 11. Defendant Janet C. Perlowski (“Perlowski”) was, at all relevant times, Chief Financial
Officer of MCG Capital. Perlowski signed the Registration Statement for MCG Capital’s IPO.

12. Defendant Steven F. Tunney (“Tunney™) was, at all relevant times, President, Chief
Operating Officer, and Treasurer of MCG Capital and served asa Di;ector of the Company. Tunney
signed the Registration Statement for MCG Capital’s IPO.

13. Defendants Mitchell, Tunney, and Perlowski are collectively referred to in this

Complaint as the “Individual Defendants.” Only Defendants MCG Capital and Mitchell are named




as defendants in Count [T of the Complaint, which alleges violations ol Section 10 of the Exchange
Act. The Individual Defendants are also named as defendants in Counts Hand IV o' the Complaint,
which allege violations of Section 15 of the Securities Act and Scethion 20 of the Lixchange Act.
respectively, under theories of control person hability.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

14. Plaintifts bring (s action as a class action pursuant to Rules 23(a) and (b)(3) of'the
Federal Rules ol Civil Procedure, on behalf ol a Class of all purchasers of the common stock of
MCG Capital between November 28, 2001 and November 1. 2002. inclusive (the “Class Period™).
including those who purchased MCG Capital shares.plyxrsuam or wraceable to the Company’s
Prospectus for its November 28, 2001 Offering of 13,375,00 shares of common stock at $17.00 per
share. Excluded from the class are the defendants herein, members of the immediate family of each
of the Individual Defendants, any entity in which any defendant has a controlling interest, and the
legal affiliates, representatives, heirs, controlling persons, successors, and predecessors in interest
or assigns of any such excluded party.

15. Members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all of them is ilﬁpracticable.
The exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintifts at this time. Plaintiffs are informed,
however, that there are at least hundreds of geographically diverse class members who acquired
MCG Capital common stock during the Class Period pursuant or traceable to the Offering of

13,375,000 shares.

16. The claims asserted by Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of other members of the

Class. Plaintiffs and the other Class members sustained injuries arising out of the same violations
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vh_\f defendants: Namelv. delendants™ material misrcprescn'lal‘iOns and omissions prior to and in
connection  with  the 1’rospcctu-s for the MCG Capital Ollering. as well as subsequent
muisrepresentations in the Company’s public filings with the SEC and press releases.

17 Questions of law and fact common to members of the Class predominate over
questions.  any. that may alfect only individual members. Common questions of law and lact
mclude:

it Whether defendants violated Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act and/or
Sections 10(b) and 20 of the Exchange Act;

b. Whether the Prospectus and subsequent Company statements to the investing
public contained malerially false or misleading statements, or failed to disclose material facts
required to be disclosed therein or necessary to make the statements therein not materially false or

misleading;

c. Whether the Individual Defendants had, after reasonable investigation,
reasonable grounds to believe and did believe, at the time the Prospectus became effective, that the
statements therein were true and that there was no omission to state a material fact required to be

stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading;

d. Whether some or all of the Individual Defendants were controlling persons
of MCG Capital within the meaning ot Section 135 of the Securities Act and Section 20 of the
[xchange Act; and

e. Whether members of the proposed Class have sustained damages and, if so,

the appropriate measure and amount of such damages.
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(8. | Plaintifts will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class and are aware
of no difticulty in the management of this action as a class action. Plaintifts have retained counsel
who are expericnced and competent in securitics and class action fitigation. Fnally, Plaintfts have
no interest that is contrary to or in conflict with the interests ot the prospective Class members they
seek o represent.

19, A class action 1s superior to all other availahle methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication ol this controversy since joinder of all members of the Class is impracticable.
I"urthermore, because the damages suftered by individual Class members may be relatively small,
the expense and burden of individual litigation make it virtually impossible for such Class members
to seek redress for the wrongful conduct alleged. There will be no difficulty in the management of

this action as a class action.

| I
CLAIMS AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT

A. OVERVIEW OF THE SECURITIES ACT CLAIMS

20.  Theclaims under Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act are brought on behalf of
persons who purchased MCG Capital common stock in an initial public offering for 13,375,000
shares at $17.00 per share, which became effective on November 28,2001 (the “IPO” or “Oftering™).
These claims allege that the Prospectus issued in gonnection with the offering misrepresented and
omitted material facts in that, among other things, the Prospectus contained significant

misrepresentations and/or omissions with respect to the credentials, credibility, and integrity of the



Company’s Chairman and CEO, Mitchell.
20 Specifically. the Prospectus failed (o disclose material information about the truc
credentials of Mitchell. and omitted to disclose that Mitchell’s eredentials. credibility. and integrity

were not as they were touted to be.

1-J
J

The Section T elaim. which is styled Count }in this Complaint, 1s brobight against
Detendant MCG Capital. the issuer o that Offering, and certain present and/or former MCG Capital

exceutives and directors who signed the Registration Statement in connection with the Offering.

23, Countl alleges only that the Prospectus misrepresented and omitted material tacts,
There is no allegation with respect to Count [ that any of the Section 11 defendants acted with

scienter.

B. BACKGROUND

24, On July 5, 2001, the Company filed with the SEC a Form N-2, which contained
important biographical information about the Company’s directors, including Mitchell -- the
Company’s Chairman and CEO. With respect to Mitchell, this filing included the following

unqualified statement concerning Mitchell and his credentials:

Bryvan J. Mitchell has served as our Chief Executive Officer

since 1998 and as the Chairman of our board of directors since May

- 2001, Mr. Mitchell has served as a member of owr board of directors
since 1998 and also served as our President fron 1998 to May 2001.
From 1997 o 1998, Mr. Mitchell was a Senior Vice President for
First Union National Bank. From 1988 to 1997, Mr. Mitchell was
employed by Signet Bank where he served as a Senior Vice President.
Mr. Mitchell serves on the board of directors of MCG Finance
Corporation and MCG Finance Corporation Il. Mr. Mitchell earned

a B.A. in Economics from Syracuse University. (emphasis added).




25. On September 7. 2001, the Company filed with the SEC a Form N-2/A which also
contained the tollowing impoertant biographical information concerning Mutchell and his credentials:

Bryvan J. Mitchell has served as our Chicf Execurive Officer
since 1998 and as the Chairman of our hoard of directors since May
2001, Mr. Mitchell has served as a member of our board of directors
sinee 1998 and also served as owr President from 1998 (o May 2001
Lrom 1997 10 1998, Mr. Mitchell was a Senior Vice President for
First Union National Bank. From 1988 to 1997, Mr. Mitchel] way
eoploved by Signet Bank where e served as a Senior Vice President.
Mro Mitchell serves on the hoard of directors of MCG Finunce
Corporation und MCG Finance Corporation 1. Mr. Mitchell earned
a B.A. in Lconomics from Syracuse University. (cmphasis added).

20. On November 1, 2001, the Company filed with the SEC a FForm N-2/A, which
contained the following important biographical information concerning Mitchell and his credentials:
“Mr. Mitchell earned a B.A. in Economics from Syracuse University.”

C. THE FALSE AND MISLEADING PROSPECTUS

27. On November 28,2001, MCG Capital filed a Registration Statement and Prospectus
with the SEC. The Company indicated that it intended to sell 13,375,000 shares ofits comumon stock
at a price of $17.00 per share.

28. On December 4, 2001, the Company announced the completion of its IPO and the

- sale of a total of 13,375,000 shares of common stock. The public otfering price was $17.00 per

share. The initial offering raised a total of $237 million ( $217 million in net procceds). MCG
granted the Underwriter Defendants an option to purchase an additional 2 million shares of the
common stock.

29. The Prospectus disseminated to the public for the Offering described the Company’s

business in highly positive terms. The Prospectus further described MCG Capital’s board of directors
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-- mcluding the important “eredit committee™ of the board -- as {ollows:

5
R

his credentials

-

)

Q.

l.

Our hoard of directors is responsible jor managing our
husiness and affairs and supervises the management of our company.
The responsibilitics of cach director include, among other things. the
aversight of the loan and investument approval process., the quarterly
valvation of our assets. and oversight of our financing arrangements.
Our hoard of directors maintaing an audit commitiee, compensation
conmumitiee and an investment commitiee. Before the completion of this
offering, our board will also extablish a nominating commitiee and
o valuation commitiee. (wr lending decisions for loans up to 510
million are made by our credit commitice. whicl includes some
members of our board of direciors.

With respect to the Company’s Chairman and CEO. Miichell. the Prospectus touted

and experience to the public in the following manner:

Bryvan .J. Mitchell has served as our Chief Executive Officer
since 1998 and as the Chairman of our board of directors since May
2001. Mr. Mitchell has served as a member of our board of directors
since 1998 and also served as our President from 1998 1o May 2001
From 1997 10 1998, Mr. Mitchell was a Senior Vice President jor
First Union-National Bank. From 1988 to 1997, Mr. Mitchell was
employed by Signet Bank where he served as a Senior Vice President.
Mr. Mitchell serves on the board of directors of MCG Finance
Corporation and MCG Finance Corporation 1. Mr, Mitchell earned
a B.A. in Economics from Syracuse University. (emphasis added).

The Prospectus also described the crucial investment approval process at MCG
Capital and the vitally important role of the members of the board of directors, including Mitchell,

with respect to the same, by stating:

Qur credit committee approves all of our investments, while
the investment commiltee of our board of directors also must approve
some investments. The four members of our credit committee are
Bryan J. Mitchell, Chairman of our board of directors and our Chief
Executive Officer, Steven F. Tunney, our President and Chief
Operating Officer, B. Hagen Saville, one of our Executive Vice
Presidents, and Robert J. Merrick, our Chief Credit Officer. Credit

10



convnittee approval requires the approval of Mr. Merrick and two of
the three other members of the credit commitice. The investment
comniittee of aur hoard must approve loans 1o any customer
exceeding S million and afl equity investments. The two directors
currentlyv on the investment commitice are Joseph H. Gleberman and
Wallace . Miltner, 11 Upon completion of this offering, (he
members of our investment commitice will be Messrs. Mitchell
Tunney, Alpert, Gleberman, Millner and Merrick. (emphasis added).

32. Indeed. the Prospectus specifically  highlighted for the mvesting public the
significant tmportance of the Company’s then-ofticers and directors,  including Mitchell. o the
Company and the Company’s ability to, inter alia, obtain continued financing from two credit

facilities from which the Company was currently borrowing money, by stating:

We borrow under two credit facilities that impose financial
and operating covenants on us that restrict our business activities.
The credit facility between our wholly owned subsidiary, MCG
Finance Corporation, and Heller Financial, inc., as agent, contains

Jfinancial covenants relaling to fixed charge coverage ratio (i.e.,

operating cash flow divided by specified interest expenses, tax
expenses and junior payments), tolal interest coverage ratio (i.c.,
operating cash flow divided by specified interest expenses), loan and
equity porifolio concentration ratio (i.e., unsecured loans and equily
investments divided by all eligible loans and equity investments),
interest spread ratio (i.e., the excess of the weighted average interest
rate we charge our customers over LIBOR) and limitations on the
percentage of our commitments that may be made 1o customers in
specified industry sectors. The facility expires on January 2, 2002.
()

The variable funding securitization facility between our
wholly owned subsidiary, MCG Finance Corporation lf, arranged by
First Union Securities, Inc., terminates on May 31, 2003 or sooner
under certain limited circumstances.

In addition, after this offering, if_any two of Bryan J.
Mitchell, the Chairman of our board of directors and our Chief
Executive Officer, Steven F. Tunney, our President and Chief
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Operating Officer. B. Haven Saviile, one of owr Executive Vice
Presidents, and Robert J. AMerrick. o Chief Credit Officer, cease fo
he actively involved in our manavement, the {ender under _our
securitization fucility could, ahsent _a waiver or cure, declare a
defundt. If e default under the jucilities, our lenders under the
respective facilities conld: (i) rerminate such facilite; (i) demand
immediare repaynient from us; (1ii) joree us to liguidate some of our
portfolio assets; (iv) foreclose on the ussets of MCG Finance
Corporation or the assets held by the securitization trust, us
applicable: (vj charge us a defauli interest rate; and (v) replace uy
as the servicer of the loans (in 1the case of the securitization facility).
The limiiations conmained i awr credit fucilitics cowld hinder our
ability 1o finance additional loanys wind investments or 1o make the
cuash disiributions required to maintain MCG Capital's status as «
regulated investment company under Subchapter M of the [nternal
Revenue Code. Future financing arrangements and facilities also
may contain similar and additional icrms and restrictions. (emphasis

added).

(U]
(8]

In essence, through the Prospectus. the Company informed the investing public that
the continued participation of current management in the Company was more than critical, and the
loss of any of them -- including the Company’s founder, Chairman and CEQ, Mitchell -- would
likely result in substantial economic damage to the Company. Specifically, the Prospectus
emphasized that:

If we are not able to hire and retain qualified personnel, or if
we lose any member of our senior manggement tean, our ability to
implement our business strategy could be significantly harmed. We
believe our future success will depend, in part, on our ability 1o
identify, attract and retain sufficient numbers of highly skilled
employees, including credit and industry analysts. We may- not
succeed in Iidentifying, attracting and retaining these personnel.
Further, competitors and other entities may attempt (o recruil our:
employees. If we are unable (o hire and retain adequate staffing
levels, we may not be able (o expand our operations.

We depend on the contributions of members of our senior
management, particularly Bryan J. Mitchell, the Chairman of our
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hoard and our Chief” Executive Officer. Steven 0 Tunncy, our
President and Chief Operating Officer. B. ilagen Savilie. one of our
Lxecutive Vice Presidents, and Robert J. Merrick, our Chief Credit
Officer. as vwell us other kev personnel.

These employees have critical industry experience and
relationships that we rely on to implement our husiness plan. If we
lose the services of any of them or other senior _members of
management, we may not be able 1o expand our business as we
expect, and vur ability to compete could be harmed causing our
operating results to suffer. In addition. if anv hwo of Mr. Mitchell,
M Saville, My Tunney or Mr. Mervick cease (o be activelyvinvolved

inowr managemest, the lender under our securitization facility could,

chsent a waiver ar cure, replace us as the servicer of the loans and

declare a default. We do not have key man life insurance policies

covering any of our employees. (emphasis added).

34, Despite the Company’s express statements in the Prospectus concerning Mitchell’s
credentials. credibility, and integrity. and the vital role Mitchell played in the Company with respect
to, inter alia. the ability of the Company to implement its business strategy, compete with other
companies, expand the Company’s business, secure cont'inued financing, and gencrally obtain
positive operating results. the Prospectus misrepresented that Mitchell earned a B.A. in Economics
from Syracuse University, when. in fact, he did not.

35. Inaddition, the NASD, which operates subject to SEC oversight, is the self-regulatory
organization of the security industry responsible for the regulation of the NASDAQ Stock Market.
Since the Offering occurred on the NASDAQ Market, the Underwriter Defendants were subject to
NASD Rules.

36. NASD Conduct Rule 2110 requires that: “A member, in the conduct ot his business,

shall observe high standards of commercial honor and just and equitable principles.” The -

Underwriter Defendants violated NASD Conduct Rule 21 10 and the Prospectus was materially false

——
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and musleading because the Prospectus contained false inlbrmalion'abom the Chairman ot MCG
Capital's academic crcclcmi.uls.
37. On November 1, 2002, the Company ultimately announced that its Chairman and
Chicl” Exceutive Officer Mitchell mever received a Bachelor of Arts degree from Syracuse
University. MCG Capital’s stock price dropped — on the news t\\-’Cﬂt_\«'ﬁ]iﬂt percent ( 29%) (’rom
$11.85 per share to $8.40 per share.!
COUNT I

For Violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act Against Defendant
MCG Capital and the Individual Defendants

38. This Count is brought by Plaintiffs on behalf of themselves and all members of the

Class who purchased MCG Capital stock pursuant to the November 28, 2001 Offering. Each Class

member acquired their shares pursuant to or traceable to, and in reliance upon, the Prospectus.

39. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above as if fully set
forth herein. As set forth above, for the purposes of this Count, Plaintiffs expressly disavow any
allegation that any defendant acted with scienter or fraudulent intent, which is not an element of
Securities Act claims.

40. The Prospectus disseminated in connection with the Offering, pursuant to which
Plamntiffs and the Class purchased shares of MCG Capital common stock, was inaccurate and
misleading, contained untrue statements of material facts, omitted to state other facts necessary to

make the statements made not misleading, and concealed and failed adequately to disclose material

: MCG Capital’s stock actually fell to $7.46 per share  on the day of the
announcement, or an astonishing 37% of the stock’s total value.
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facts as described above.

‘4 I The Individual Defendants signed the Registraton Statement and were responsible
far its contents and dissemination. As signatorics. the Individual Detendants are strictly Liable to
Plaintifts and the other members of the Class for the material misstatements in and omissions from
the Prospectus.

42. MCG Capital is the issuer of the stock sold via the Prospectus. Asissuer ot the stock.
the Company is strictly liable to Plantiffs and the Class tor the material misstatements and
omissions therein.

43. None of the defendants named herein made a reasonable investigation or possessed
reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in the Prospectus were true. without
omissions of any material facts. Defendants issued and participated in the dissemination of
materially false and misleading written statements to the investing public that were contained in the

Prospectus. By reason of the conduct herein alleged, each defendant violated Section 11 of the

. Securities Act.

44, Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class acquired shares of MCG Capital stock
pursuant to or traceable to the Prospectus. None of these shares were acquired after the Company
made generally available to its investors an earning statement covering a period of at least twelve
months beginning afler the eftfective date of the Prospectus.

45, Plaintiffs and other members of the Class have sustained damages as a direct and
proximate result of defendants’ acts and omissions in violation of the Securities Act. The value of

shares of MCG Capital stock has declined substantially subsequent to, and due to, defendants’




violations.

40. At the limc‘lhcy purchased shares of MCG Capital stock. Plainufls and the other
members ol the Class were without knowledge ol the facts concerning the misstatements or
omissions alleged hcrdn and could not have reasonably discovered those facts prior to the end of
thg Class Period. 1ess than one _vcz‘n' has clapsed from the time that Plaintiffs discovered or
reasonably could have discovered - the facts upon which this Complaint is based to the time that
Plaintifts or members of the Class I'llcd the earliest complaint that is consolidated in this action. Less
than three years have elapsed from the time that the shares upon which this claim is brought were

hona fide offered to the public to the time Plaintiffs filed this action.

47. By virtue of the foregoing, Plaintiffs and the other members of the class are entitled
to damages under Section 11 as measured by the provisions of Section 11(e), from the defendants

and each of them, jointly and severally.

COUNT 11
Violations of Section 15 of the Securities Act
Avainst the Individual Defendants

48. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above as if fully
set forth herein. As set forth above, for the purposes of this Count, Plaintiffs expressly disavow
any allegation that any defendant acted with scienter or fraudulent intent, which is not an element
of Securities Act claims.

49, The Individual Defendantsv were controlling persons of MCG Capital within the

meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act by reason of their respective management positions
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m MCG Capital and their membership on MCG Capital’s Board of Directors and/or their stock
ownership and/or their participation throughout the Class Period i the day-to-day business
allairs of MCG Capital. Because ol their positions in the Company and/or their stock ownership,
and because ol their positions on the MCG Capital Board of Directors. these defendants were
privy to and provided them with actual knowledge of the material tacts concealed from Plaintitls
and the Class, had the powcer and influence to control the Company. and caused MCG Capital to
Engagc in the unlawtul acts and conduct alleged herein.

50. As a result of the 1‘bx'egoi.ng, Plaintiffs and the othei‘ members of the Class sutfered
damages.

11

ADDITIONAL MISREPRESENTATIONS
SUBSEQUENT TO THE OFFERING

S In addition to the misrepresentations contained in the Prospectus -~ the Company
continued to repeat the very same misrepresentations to the investing public in the fol.lowing
SEC -ﬂlings after the November 28, 2001 Offering.

52. On »November 29, 20(_)1, the Company filed with the SEC Form 497, which
contained the following statements: “Mr. Mitchell earned a B.A. in Economics from Syracuse
University.”

53. On April 15, 2002, the Company filed with the SEC a registration statement on a
Form N-2 for a secondary public offering, in which the Company claimed that “Mr. Mitchell
carned a B.A. in Economics from Syracuse University.”

54. On April 16, 2002, the Company filed with the SEC a form PRE 14A, in which

17



the Company claimed that “Mr. Mitcheli earned a B.A. in fconomics from Syracuse
Criversity.”

35, On April 20, 2002, the Company liled Proxy/Inlo Statements with the SLL onu
form DEF 14A_ in which the Company again claimed that “Mr. Mitchell earned a B.A. in
Economices from Syracuse University.”

S6. On May 13,2002, the Company filed with the SEC Amendment # 1 (o its April
15,2002 registration statement for its secondary offering on a FForm N-2/A, in which the
Company stated 1hat:“‘/Wr. Mitchell earned a B.A. in Economics from Syracuse University.”

57. On May 21, 2002, the Company filed with the SEC Amendment # 2 to its April
[3.2002 registration statement for its sccondary offering on a Form N-2/A, in which the
Company again stated that: “Mr. Mitchell earned a B.A. in Economics from Syracuse
Uni versigp.”

58. On June 13: 2002, the Company filed with the SEC a Form 497, which also
contained the statement: “Mr. Mitchell earned a B.A. in Economics from Syracuse University.”

59. The statements in the Prospectus and subsequent filings with the SEC, as detailed
in 49 24-30, 52-58 above, were materially false and misleading because, despite the Company’s
claims that Mitchell received a degree in Economics from Syracuse University, in fact, Mitchell
never earned such a degree and had actually dropped out of 'S)‘:racluse University. These
statements were material as they falsely stated the academic credentials, credibility, and integrity
of the Company’s l’ouqder, chairman and CEO.

60. Further, the materiality of the misrepresentations and/or omissions with respect to




the credentials, credibifity. and mtegrity of the Company’s management for the investing public
is self=evident in Hieht ol inrer alia: (a) the vital importance to the investing public and the
securitics markets m gcﬁcml of the integrity ot a public company’s ofticers and directors; and (b)
the Company’s consistent statements o the public concerning the very same. In fact. the
Company expressly informed the public in the Prospectus that -- for MCG Capital -- the ability
of the Company’s current management team. consisting of Mitchell and others, to continue with
the Company was ol critical import for hoth continued hinancing of the Company and the
Company’s ability to continue operations in general

61.  The market for the Company’s stock has been open, well-developed and efficient
at all times during the Class Period.  As a result of the defendants’ materially false and
misleading statements and failures to disclose set forth herein, the Company’s stock traded at
artificially inflated prices during the Class Period.

I1.

THE TRUTH IS FINALLY REVEALED
062. On October 31, 2002, Herb Greenberg (“Greenberg;’), a reporter with
TheStreet.com, began conducting background checks into the biographies of certain executives
of business development companies.
63. That day, Greenberg’s associate, Mark Martinez, placed a phone call to the
Registrar’s Office at Syracuse University and was informed that MCG Capital’s Chairman and
CEO, Mitchell, not only didn’t have his vB.A. in Economics -- he actually dropped out of

college.



04. Based upon this information. Greenberg wrote M\lchd an e-mail, telling Mitchell
that he had a few questions about his college background: Greenberg gave Mitchell until 11:00
a.m. on November 1. 2002 o respond to his c-maii.
05. At 10:30 am. on November 1. 2002. Greenberg called MCG Capital, saying that
he needed to speak to Mitchell. Greenberg was told by a representative of the Company that
Mitchell was “on a conference call with the Board.”
0G6. In the carly afternoon of November 1. 2002, 1 an apparent attemipt to front-run
what the Company knew Greenberg knew about Mitchell’s rrre educational cred’ent‘ials_, the
Company issued a press release announcing that its Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, |
Mitchell, never received a Bachelor of Arts degree from Syracuse University, as Mitchell had
repeatedly claimed in numerous SEC filings.”
67. The above disclosure of defendant Mitchell’s false resume had an immediate and
sharply negative effect on i\/lCG Capital’s stock price. On that day, MCG Capital’s stock price ’ ‘

dropped twenty-eight percent (28%) from $11.74 per share to $8.40 per share.

68. Indeed, public reports have confirmed that the disclosure by the Company of
Mitchell’s false credentials -- only affer the investigation by TheStreet.com discovered the fraud

and Mitchell was confronted with the same -- directly (and negatively) impacted the market price

! Interestingly, Mitchell’s educational background is now completely absent from his
biography on the Company’s Web site, which instead touts how he led MCG Capital through an
IPO, “raising over $237 million in gross proceeds,” and how he had raised “over $700 million of
capital from highly respected financial firms, including Goldman, Sachs and Co., Soros Fund
Management, Vestar Capital Partners, First Union Bank and Heller Financial, to support MCG's
growth.”

D




ol MCG Capital’s common stock. For example, on CNN's Low Dobbhy Moneyline program th

day the fraud was uncovered. the following exchange ook place between CNN/i reporters:

[ JAN] HOPKINS, [CNNfu Anchor Lou Dobbs
Moneyline]: Now, we also have word ol another
CEQO that lied about his resume.

[CHRISTINE] ROMANS, [CNN/n .
Correspondent]: And vou know what. the reaction
on Wall Street 1s getting more fierce with each
reaction that we've seen. This is a company called
MCG Capital (Company: MCG Capital
Corporation; Ticker: MCGC; URL:
http://www.megeapital.com/). The CEO’s name 1s
Bryan Mitchell. The company coming out and
saying he does not have a B.A. in economics from
Syracuse, as his resume and the company’s
: statements have shown. The stock, Jan, if vou take
b a look at the three-mmonth chart of this stock, the
- stock absolutely pummeled here today. Look at
the right, down $3.34, below $10 a share. Now
below §9 a share. The lowest price it’s been since
its IPO about 11 months ago. This is the man wiio
shepherded this company at this IPO. He’s raised
millions and millions of dollars for this finance
company, and credibility is king on Wall Street.

f This isn’t the first time we have heard of it either.

HOPKINS: That’s right. Thanks, Christine.

69. On November 3, 2003, TheStreet.com’s Greenberg also weighed in on the impact
of the Company’s revelation concerning its past deceits regarding Mitchell, stating, “Can’t help
but wonder why credibility [of] an admitted har, of a CEO, will have vomg forward. (And can’t
i help but wonder what else at the company has been, shall we say, embellished.)”

70. Greenberg further questioned, in an article written on November 4, 2003, “Why




companies don’t fire resume labricators. such as Mitchell . . | is anvbody’s guess -- especially in
an cnvironment such where CEQ credibility 1s evervihing ™ (emphasis in original).

71. And. on November 12,2002, Greenberg poignantly stated. "When a CEQ lies

i . : . N
L about his educational background ... you have to wonder what ¢lse might not be right.’
' 72. [n addition. the day of the revelation, Wachovia Securities downgraded MCG

¢ Capital from “Buy™ to "Hold™ based upon the Company’s announcement that it had misstated

information concerning Mitchell and that Mitchell had resigned as Chairman of the Board.

Spectficallv. Wachovia Securities stated:

| * Based on today’s announcement out of MCG
Capital, we are downgrading MCG Capital to Hold
from Buy. Mr. Mitchell informed MCG’s Board of
Director’s that he does not have a B.A. in
Economics from Syracuse University, as previously
disclosed.

* Our rating 1s based on the capital constraints and
credibility issues surrounding MCG Capital’s
CEQO, Bryan Mitchell. We believe that upside in

; the shares is limited until this issue is resolved.

; (emphasis added).

INAPPLICABILITY OF STATUTORY SAFE HARBOR

73. The federal statutory safe harbor provided for forward-looking statements under

certain circumstances does not apply to any of the allegedly false statements set forth above.
First, statements contained in a Prospectus issued in connection with an initial public offering are
statutorily excluded from protection under the safte harbor. FFurther, none of those statements
were forward-looking statements. Finally, none were identified as “forward-looking statements”

when made and none were accompanied by cautionary statements identifying important factors




that could cause actual results to differ materially from the statements made therein.

APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCI:
FRAUD-ON-THE-MARKIET DOCTRINIE

74. At all relevant times, the market for MCG Capital common stock was an efficient

market for the following reasons. among others:

i€ MCG Capttal stock met the requirements for isting, and was listed and
actively traded, on the NASDAQ National Market System ("NASDAQ7). a highly clficient
market; :

b. As a regulated issuer, MCG Capital filed periodic public reports with the
SEC and the NASD;

C. MCG Capital stock was followed by securities analysts employed by
major brokerage firms who wrote reports which were distributed to the sales force and certain
customers of their respective brokerage ﬁrms.‘ Each of these reports was publicly available and

entered the public marketplace; and

d. MCG Capital regularly issued press releases which were carried by
national newswires. Each of these releases was publicly available and entered the public

marketplace.
75. As a result, the market for MCG Capital securities promptly digested current

information with respect to MCG Capital from all publicly-available sources and reflected such

information in MCG Capital’s stock price. Under these circumstances, all purchasers of MCG
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Capital common stock during the Class Period suffered similar injury through their purchase of

stock atartificially inflated prices and a presumption of reliance apphies.

COUNT IH
FFor Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
Rule 10b-5 Promulgated Thercunder Against Defendants
| MCG Capital and Mitchell

76. Plaintfts repeat and reallege cach and every allegation contained above as il fully
sct larth herem.

77. During the Class Period, Defendants MCG Capital and Mitchell (which for
purposes of this Count will be referred to as “Defendants”), and each of them. carried out a plan,
scheme and course of conduct which was intended to and, throughout the Class Period, did: (i)
deceive the investing public, including Plaintiffs and other Class members, as alleged herein; (ii)
artificially inflate and maintain the market price of MCG Capital common stock; and (iii) cause
Plaintiffs and other members of the Class to purchase MCG Capital stock at artificially inflated
prices. In furtherance of this unlawful scheme, plan and course of conduct, Defendants, and each
of them, took the actions set forth herein.

78. Defendants: (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) made
untrue statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the
statements not nusleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices and a course of business which
operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company's common stock in an effort
to maintain artificially high market prices for MCG Capital common stock in violation of Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. Defendants are sued as primary participants in the

wrongful and illegal conduct charged herein.




79. In addition to the duties of tull disclosure imposed on Detendants as a result of
their making of atfirmative statements and reports. or participation in the making of affirmative
statements and reports (o the mvesting public, they cach had a duty to promptly disseminate
truthful information that would be material to investors in compliance with the integrated
disclosure provisions of the SEC as embodied in SEC Regulation S-X (17 C.F.R.§ 210.01, er
seq.)yand S-K(17 CFR. S 229.10, ¢f seq.) and other SEC regulations, including accurate and
1ruthl"ui information with respect to the Company's operations. financial condition and
performance so that the market prices of the Company’s publicly traded securities would be
based on truthful, complete and accurate intormation.

80. Defendants, individually and in concert. directly and indirectly, by the use of
means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails. engaged and participated
In a continuous f:ourse of conduct to conceal adverse material information about the Offering of
MCG Capital common stoék as specified herein, as set forth more particularly herein, and
engaged In transactions, practices and a course of business which operated as a fraud and deceit
upon the purchasers of MCG Capital securities during the Class Period.

81. Defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and omissions of
material facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth in that they failed to

ascertain and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were readily available to them.

SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS

82. The facts alleged herein, compel a strong inference that the Defendants made

2
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material false and misleading statements to the investing public despite knowing, or recklessly
disregarding that the publiclslzllemenls issued or disseminated in the name of the Company were
materially false and misleading: knew or recklessly disregarded that such statements would be
issued or clisscminut@ to the investing public; z—xhd knowingly and substantially participated or
acquiesced i the issuance or dissemination of such statements as primary vielators of the federal
sceurities faws.

83.  To state the obvious, Mitchell knows the precise details ol his educational
background. /\s such, he also knew that, before and during the Class Period. his biographical
information, aé well as other statements that related to his credentials. credibility, and integrity
were materially false and misleading.

| 84. Defendants engaged in such a scheme to inflate the price ot MCG Capital
common stock in order to: (1) artificially enhance the price of MCG Capital stock for MCG
Capital’s IPO; and (ii) sust:avin MCG Capital’s artificially inflated stock price after the Company
successfully completed its $237 million IPO to avoid a negative backiash upon the market’s

discovery that the IPO was so inflated.

83. Moreover, Mitchell was able to use his bogus resume to help enrich himself in the
form of obtaining a $658,000.00 compensation package in 2001 and $4 million worth of
restricted stock.

80. As a result of the dissemination of the materially false and misleading information
and failure to disclose material facts, as set forth above, the market price of MCG Capital’s

common stock was artificially inflated during the Class Period. In ignorance of the fact that the



market price ot MCG Capital's shares were artificially inflated. and relying directly or indirectly
on the lalse and mislcading statements made by the Defendants. or upon the integrity of the
market in which the sccuritics trade, and/or on the absence of material adverse information that
was known to or recklessly disregarded by Defendants but not disclosed 1n their public
statements during the Class Period. Plaintitts and the other members ot the Class acquired MCG
Capitad common stock during the Class Period atartificially intlated high prices and were
damaged thereby:

87. At the time of said misrepresentations and omissions. Plaintifts and other
members of the Class were ignorant of their falsity, and believed them to be true. Had Plaintiffs
and the other members of the Class and the marketplace known that the price of MCG Capital
shares had been artificially intlated by the Defendants’ fraudulent scheme, Plaintiffs and other
members of the Class would not have purchased or otherwise acquired MCG Capital securities
during the Class Period, or,ﬁifthey had acquired such securities during the Class Period, they
would not have done so at the artificially inflated prices which they paid.

88. By virtue of the foregoing, Defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange
Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.

COUNT 1V
For Violation of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act
Against the Individual Defendants

89. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above as it fully set
forth herein.

90.  The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of MCG Capital within the




meanmg of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. By reason of their positions as ofticers and directors
ol MCG Capital, and their ownership of MCG Capital stock, the Individual Defendants had the
powcerand authority to cause MCG Capital Lo engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein.
MCG Capital controlled each of the Individual Delendants and all ol its employees. By reason of
such conduct. MCG C.npitvnl and the Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of
the Exchange Act.

9l. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ wrongtul conduct, Plaintitts and
the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases of the
Company’s securities during the Class Period.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and on behalf of the Class, pray
for judgment as follows:

A. Declaring this action to be a class action pursuant to Rule 23(a) and (b)(3) of
the Federal Rules of Civil Frocedure on behalf of the Class defined herein;

B. Awarding Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class damages in an amoun{
which may be proven at trial, together with interest thereon, as a result of Defendants’ violation of

the securities laws;

C. Awarding Plaintiffs and other members of the Class prejudgment and post-

judgment interest, as well as their reasonable attorneys’ and experts’ witness fees and other costs:

and
D. Awarding such other and further reliet as this Court may deem just and

proper.




JURY DEMAND

Plaintifts hereby demand a trial by jury.

Respectiully submitted.
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CERTIFICATION OF NAMED PLAINTIFF
4 RAL RY

l.(primmm);lbsggb G QBY\IQQ (PLaintifl™) declsre, as 10 the claims ssscnad

under the federn) securitics Lrws, that

L Plaindfl bay reviewed the Comploiat and vuthorizes its filing.

2. Plaindff did not purchase the sacurity that is the subject of this actica at the direction of Plaimiff's
counsel ar in order [0 parucipate ip amy privare sction,

3 Plaindff is willigg w terve 23 o represantative party an dehalf of the dlass, including providing wstimony

2t deposition and mial. if necasary.
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